M. Reeves, J. Sinclair()

#### Contents

Introduction	298
Latency, Carriage and Reactivation of HCMV in the Cells of the Myeloid Lineage	298
Models of HCMV Latency Using Experimental Infection	300
Viral Gene Expression Associated with HCMV Latency	301
Key Aspects of HCMV Latency and Reactivation	302
The Establishment of HCMV Latency.	302
The Maintenance of HCMV Latency.	304
Reactivation of HCMV from Latency	305
Other Sites of HCMV Latency	308
Conclusion	309
References	309

Abstract Primary infection of healthy individuals with human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) is usually asymptomatic and results in the establishment of a lifelong latent infection of the host. Although no overt HCMV disease is observed in healthy carriers, due to effective immune control, severe clinical symptoms associated with HCMV reactivation are observed in immunocompromised transplant patients and HIV sufferers. Work from a number of laboratories has identified the myeloid lineage as one important site for HCMV latency and reactivation and thus has been the subject of extensive study. Attempts to elucidate the mechanisms controlling viral latency have shown that cellular transcription factors and histone proteins influence HCMV gene expression profoundly and that the type of cellular environment virus encounters upon infection may have a critical role in determining a lytic or latent infection and subsequent reactivation from latency. Furthermore, the identification of a number of viral gene products expressed during latent infection suggests a more active role for HCMV during latency. Defining the role of these viral proteins in latently infected cells will be important for our full understanding of HCMV latency and reactivation in vivo.

J. Sinclair Department of Medicine, University of Cambridge, Addenbrooke's Hospital Cambridge, CB2 2QQ, UK js@mole.bio.cam.ac.uk

T. E. Shenk and M. F. Stinski (eds.), *Human Cytomegalovirus. Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology 325.* © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2008

#### Introduction

The ability of human cytomegalovirus (HCMV), like all herpes viruses, to establish a lifelong persistent infection plays a crucial role in the long-term carriage of this opportunistic pathogen in the human host. It is likely that HCMV persistence, in vivo, involves sites in the host which continually produce low levels of virus. However, it is now clear that it also involves sites which carry the viral genome latently in the absence of any productive infection.

Although HCMV causes few overt symptoms following primary infection of healthy individuals, significant morbidity and mortality is observed in the immunonaïve, immunocompromised and immunosuppressed (Ho 1990; Zaia 1990). Primary infection is an important factor in HCMV-mediated disease (see the chapter by W. Britt, this volume), particularly following congenital infection (Griffiths and Walter 2005). However, reactivation from latency is a major cause of disease in certain transplant patients (both solid organ and bone marrow transplantation) and also in late-stage HIV patients suffering from AIDS (Adler 1983; Rubin 1990; Sissons and Carmichael 2002). Consequently, developing an understanding of the mechanisms that regulate latency and reactivation in vivo is of paramount importance for future clinical intervention.

In order to do this, a number of fundamental questions about the basic biology of HCMV need to be addressed: Firstly, in which cells does the latent virus reside? Secondly, in which cells does the virus reactivate. Thirdly, what regulates this latency and reactivation?

The ability to detect latent HCMV, particularly prior to the development of highly sensitive techniques such as the polymerase chain reaction (PCR), is in contrast to the ease of detecting productive HCMV infection during disease. Acute HCMV infection is manifest in numerous tissues (Rubin 1990; Sissons and Carmichael 2002). Epithelial, endothelial, smooth muscle, stromal, fibroblast and neuronal cells all support lytic HCMV replication in vivo (Sinzger et al. 1995; Plachter et al. 1996; see the chapter by C. Sinzger et al., this volume) and, consequently, HCMV pathology can be seen in a diverse range of organs throughout the body. In contrast, HCMV latency appears to be restricted to subpopulations of cell types.

# Latency, Carriage and Reactivation of HCMV in the Cells of the Myeloid Lineage

Some of the first instructive observations regarding HCMV latency came from clinical studies. Although it was extremely difficult to detect infectious virus in the blood of normal healthy individuals, it was evident that blood transfusions from healthy sero-positive donors often resulted in the transmission of HCMV to blood donor recipients (Adler 1983). However, the incidence of this transmission was significantly reduced if leukocyte-depleted blood products were used (Yeager et al. 1981; Tolpin et al.

#### 298

1985; Gilbert et al. 1989), which strongly suggested that viral transmission was cell-based and not mediated by free virus. Consequently, one of the cellular sites of latency was believed to be in the peripheral blood compartment.

We now know that the latent load of HCMV in healthy carriers is around 1 genome-positive cell per 10,000 peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) (Slobedman and Mocarski 1999), clearly below the detection limits of Northern, Southern and Western analyses. However, the use of a highly-sensitive PCR approach finally permitted the analysis of HCMV latency in vivo and defined the myeloid lineage as an important site of HCMV latency (Fig. 1). An experimental approach that isolated different fractions of cells from the blood of healthy seropositives showed that carriage of HCMV DNA occurred predominantly in the leukocyte fraction of peripheral blood - particularly in the CD14<sup>+</sup> monocyte population (Fig. 1a). HCMV was not found in the lymphocyte fraction or the polymorphonuclear cells (Fig. 1b) (Bevan et al. 1991; Taylor-Wiedeman et al. 1991, 1993; Stanier et al. 1992). Monocytes, however, represent a short-lived continually renewable population of cells that arise from haematopoietic cell precursors (CD34+ cells) present in the bone marrow (Metcalf 1989). These cells were also shown to be HCMV genomepositive, suggesting that the bone marrow represents one latent reservoir of virus (Mendelson et al. 1996; Sindre et al. 1996). Although CD34<sup>+</sup> cells are sites of latency for HCMV and are a common precursor of both lymphoid and myeloid cells, the carriage of virus appears to be restricted to cells of the monocyte/myeloid lineage by, as yet, undefined mechanisms (for review see Sinclair and Sissons 2006).



Fig. 1 HCMV latency is established in bone marrow progenitors and is carried in the myeloid lineage. During natural latency, HCMV DNA can be detected in bone marrow progenitor cells that give rise multiple lineages. However, the carriage of viral genomes is detected in the myeloid lineage (a) and not the lymphoid lineage (b). A third endothelial lineage (c) has been proposed, but not proven (?), which may also provide another site of HCMV latency in aortic, and not venous, endothelial cells

One major difference between viral latency and reactivation is characteristically defined by the absence of lytic gene transcription during latent carriage of virus. Although transcripts arising from the major IE region of HCMV have been detected during latency (Kondo and Mocarski 1995; Kondo et al. 1996) (see Sect. 4 below), the major IE transcripts IE72 or IE86 are not expressed in naturally latent CD34<sup>+</sup> cells or monocytes (Taylor-Wiedeman et al. 1994; Mendelson et al. 1996). Indeed, it is only upon terminal differentiation of these cells to mature macrophage or dendritic cell phenotypes that viral lytic gene expression is observed, which, under certain conditions, can result in complete reactivation and release of infectious virus (Taylor-Wiedeman et al. 1994; Soderberg-Naucler et al. 1997; Soderberg-Naucler et al. 2001; Reeves et al. 2005b). However, attempts to dissect the mechanisms of HCMV latency and reactivation have been hampered by the frequency of seropositive cells in vivo and a lack of a robust tissue culture model which allows a more thorough, large-scale analysis of natural latency.

#### Models of HCMV Latency Using Experimental Infection

The low frequency of latently infected cells in vivo has resulted in a number of studies of HCMV latency which have been used in experimental infection of cord blood CD34<sup>+</sup> cells, fetal liver CD34<sup>+</sup> cells (GM-Ps), G-CSF mobilised CD34<sup>+</sup> cells and CD34<sup>+</sup> cells isolated from bone marrow aspirates (Kondo et al. 1994; Minton et al. 1994; Hahn et al. 1998; Maciejewski and St Jeor 1999; Goodrum et al. 2002; Slobedman et al. 2002; Reeves et al. 2005a). These experimentally infected latent model systems can result in 20%-90% of cells carrying latent virus depending on the cell type, virus strain and multiplicity of infection used. Consequently, such experimental latency model systems result in an increase in the level of latently infected cells in the experimental population and have made it possible to perform more comprehensive analyses which can then be tested in naturally latently infected cells.

Although it is not possible to fully review the wealth of data obtained from these studies here (for reviews see Streblow and Nelson 2003; Bego and St Jeor 2006; Sinclair and Sissons 2006), a number of instructive observations have been made. In general, they suggest that long-term carriage of viral genomes during latency occurs in the absence of any significant viral gene expression and the carriage of latent genomes appears to be specific to certain cell populations which include the precursors of monocytes (CD34/CD33/CD14) and dendritic cells (CD34/CD33/CD1a) (Hahn et al. 1998). Furthermore, reactivation of lytic gene expression requires terminal differentiation of such progenitors to macrophages or dendritic cells (Maciejewski and St Jeor 1999; Reeves et al. 2005a). Thus, there is good agreement between studies on experimental and natural latency and, consequently, these experimental models have been used extensively to address one of the more intriguing aspects of HCMV latency: latent viral gene expression.

300

#### Viral Gene Expression Associated with HCMV Latency

Using an experimental latent model system involving in vitro infection of GM-Ps, Kondo et al. first identified cytomegalovirus latency-expressed transcripts (CLTs) from both strands of the MIE region of the genome (Kondo and Mocarski 1995; Kondo et al. 1996). Subsequently, some of the CLTs were identified in the cells of healthy seropositives' bone marrow aspirates and antibodies to these six ORFs were detected in infected individuals (Kondo et al. 1996; Landini et al. 2000). However, their specific role, if any, in latency is unclear as they are expressed during productive infection and deletion of one CLT (pORF94) had no impact on the ability of the virus to establish latency or to reactivate in vitro (White et al. 2000).

Using the same experimentally latent GM-P model, another putative latencyassociated transcript has been identified (Jenkins et al. 2004): the UL111a transcript, also expressed during lytic infection (Kotenko et al. 2000). UL111a encodes a viral homologue of interleukin-10 (vIL-10). Unlike its cellular counterpart, vIL-10 encodes only the immunosuppressive functions associated with cellular IL-10 (Spencer et al. 2002) and thus may play a role in avoiding immune surveillance (see the chapter by C. Powers et al., this volume). This provides an attractive mechanism for the increased survival of latently infected cells in vivo. However, detection of the transcript in vivo did not correlate with HCMV serostatus: monocytes from some seronegative individuals were also positive for the v-IL10 transcript. Whether such seronegative donors were DNA-positive or were, perhaps, sero-converting at the time of the analysis was never determined.

More comprehensive analyses of viral gene expression associated with experimental latency have also been carried out using microarrays (Goodrum et al. 2002; Cheung et al. 2006). These detected a large number of viral RNAs, including IE transcripts that were expressed transiently following infection of CD34<sup>+</sup> cells or GM-Ps. Consequently, whether all these viral RNAs represent truly latent transcripts requires more in depth analysis. The possibility that some of these viral RNAs may reflect detection of low-level persistent infection in some cells of the experimental latent cultures needs to be completely ruled out. Although the possibility that expression of these virals RNAs are required to establish latent infection, which are progressively switched off during long-term latency, needs consideration (Cheung et al. 2006).

One transcript, however, initially identified by Goodrum et al. with their microarray analysis (Goodrum et al. 2002), has also been shown to be expressed during natural latency in some seropositive monocytes and CD34<sup>+</sup> cells (Goodrum et al. 2007). This transcript, encoded by UL138 of the viral genome, may be required for HCMV latency as recombinant viruses lacking UL138 have an impaired ability to establish a latent infection in an experimental model system (Goodrum et al. 2007). However, the exact role of this transcript during latency will require further investigation.

Another recently identified putative latency-associated transcript encoded by HCMV is the LUNA (also known as latency-associated nuclear antigen) transcript (Bego et al. 2005). Identified in a screen of a monocyte cDNA library prepared

from RNA isolated from a healthy HCMV-seropositive individual, this transcript is partially anti-sense to the viral UL81 and UL82 genes. Although a protein product is expressed during productive infection, it has been suggested that LUNA could function as an anti-sense RNA during latency, perhaps mediating the inhibition of pp71 expression from the UL82 ORF. As pp71 is a potent transactivator of the MIEP (major immediate-early promoter) (Bresnahan and Shenk 2000), such suppression of the MIEP could help maintain latency.

#### **Key Aspects of HCMV Latency and Reactivation**

Although RNAs expressed in experimentally infected latent models do need to be carefully interpreted, these model systems have also been used extensively to attempt to address other key aspects of viral latency, namely latency establishment and maintenance as well as reactivation.

#### The Establishment of HCMV Latency

One of the critical steps for establishing latency is likely to include the silencing of the viral MIEP: such control of viral major IE gene expression is a credible mechanism by which all subsequent viral lytic gene expression will be regulated (Fig. 2). Thus, what regulates the MIEP? The MIEP appears to be regulated by multiple cellular transcription factors and higher-order chromatin structure during both lytic (Meier and Stinski 1996; Nevels et al. 2004; Ioudinkova et al. 2006; Reeves et al. 2006) and latent infection (Sinclair and Sissons 2006). Promoter transfection assays have identified a number of factors that repress the MIEP: including YY1 (ying yang 1) (Liu et al. 1994), ERF (ets-2 repressor factor) (Bain et al. 2003) and Gfi-1 (growth factor independent-1) (Zweidler-Mckay et al. 1996). These factors are expressed at high levels in nonpermissive cells and, interestingly, ERF and YY1 are known to interact with chromatinmodifying enzymes (Thomas and Seto 1999; Wright et al. 2005). Consistent with this, during both experimental and natural latency, the transcriptionally inactive MIEP is associated with markers of repressed chromatin, such as Heterochromatin protein 1 (HP1), and is responsive to the histone deacetylase inhibitor Trichostatin A (TSA) providing a model for silencing of the MIEP during experimental (Meier 2001; Murphy et al. 2002; Reeves et al. 2005a) and natural latency (Reeves et al. 2005b). Interestingly, during experimental latency in GM-Ps, cellular factors associated with the formation of repressive chromatin (i.e. AML-1b) are known to be upregulated (Slobedman et al. 2004). Therefore, such cellular responses to latent infection, coupled with a cellular environment already high in levels of repressors of the MIEP, may be critical determinants for the establishment and maintenance of latent carriage of viral genomes.



Fig. 2 The establishment of HCMV latency is promoted by chromatin structure. Following infection (a), HCMV infects the cells of the bone marrow (b) and establishes a latent infection of the CD34<sup>+</sup> cells resident therein (c). High levels of cellular transcriptional repressors such as ERF and YY1 (d) repress the MIEP. As well as transcription factor binding, histone proteins are recruited to the MIEP which become targets for histone deacetylases and histone methyltransferases that are recruited by YY1 and ERF (e). These methylated histones become targets for the recruitment of HP-1, which augments repression and the establishment of latency (f). Whether any viral products expressed during latency that are important for the repression of the MIEP in this model is, to date, unknown

To date, there is a good consensus that HCMV infects CD34<sup>+</sup> haematopoietic stem cells and establishes a latent infection in them. Whilst this is demonstrably true, it has also been suggested that subsets of CD34<sup>+</sup> cells may show susceptibility for HCMV productive infection. A study by Goodrum et al. (2004) that analysed differential outcomes of HCMV infection in sorted populations of haematopoietic CD34<sup>+</sup> stem cells concluded that infection of one subset of CD34<sup>+</sup> cells (CD34<sup>+</sup> but CD38<sup>-</sup>) established the hallmarks of a latent infection (Goodrum et al. 2004), i.e. no detectable virus production but the ability to reactivate upon cellular differentiation. In contrast, other CD34<sup>+</sup> cell subpopulations were fully productive for HCMV infection, whilst more mature CD34<sup>+</sup> stem cell subpopulations appeared to undergo abortive infection and failed to maintain latent viral genomes. This suggests that the outcome of infection of different CD34<sup>+</sup> stem cell subpopulations could depend on the exact phenotype of each stem cell subpopulation. Indeed, there is increasing evidence of early lineage commitment in the haematopoietic stem cell compartment such that a dendritic cell fate, although not irreversible (O'Garra and Trinchieri 2004), is thought to be determined at earlier stages of progenitor cell development (Olweus et al. 1997; Monji et al. 2002). Taken together, these observations could support the hypothesis that HCMV infection of CD34<sup>+</sup> stem cells, resulting in latent viral carriage, is restricted to certain subpopulations of CD34+ stem cells. These cells are restricted to specific myeloid cell fates and this mechanism may explain why the carriage of HCMV genomes occurs in some but not all cell types of the myeloid lineage.

Alternatively, infection of CD34<sup>+</sup> stem cells could, in itself, promote lineage commitment of the latently infected cell to specific myeloid cell types. Although there is no direct evidence for this, differences in the cellular transcriptome of experimentally latently infected GM-Ps compared with uninfected GM-Ps suggest that such changes in cellular gene expression upon latent infection could, hypothetically, promote lineage commitment of these myeloid progenitor cells (Slobedman et al. 2004). Thus, whether viral genome carriage in only certain myeloid cells is a consequence of HCMV initially infecting specific CD34<sup>+</sup> subpopulations which are already committed to different lineages or is due to the latent infection itself, promoting lineage commitment to specific myeloid cell types, is unclear, but both are plausible.

It is clear that a critical determinant of whether the outcome of an infection is productive or latent is dependent on the regulation of IE gene expression: if repression of the MIEP prevails, latency will probably be established (Sinclair and Sissons 1996). However, whether this also involves expression of other specific viral genes is not clear. As stated previously, experimental latency models have identified a wide range of viral transcripts which appear to be expressed during latency. However, many of these are not exclusive to latent infection (Lunetta and Wiedeman 2000; Bego et al. 2005; Goodrum et al. 2007) and their expression has not been confirmed in natural latency (Beisser et al. 2001; Goodrum et al. 2002; Cheung et al. 2006). Consequently, they may simply represent noise from abortive or productive infection in certain subpopulations of progenitor cell types or they may represent a class of viral gene products required to establish latent infection (see Sect. 4, above).

#### The Maintenance of HCMV Latency

Latency is established within myeloid cells, a cell type with substantial proliferative capacity (Metcalf 1989). Between two and ten copies (Slobedman and Mocarski 1999) of the HCMV genome are carried in an episomal form in mononuclear cells in the peripheral blood of healthy seropositive individuals (Bolovan-Fritts et al. 1999). How the viral genome is maintained in these dividing progenitor cells is unclear. Contrast this with the gamma herpesvirus Epstein-Barr Virus (EBV), which has a defined latent origin of replication (Yates et al. 1984; Adams 1987) and encodes a number of latently expressed genes. Some of these viral genes have defined roles in viral latent genome maintenance in B cells (Leight and Sugden 2000; Young et al. 2000). HCMV does not have similar genes and does not have a known latent origin of replication. Genome replication does not appear to be due to any low-level persistence in the cells in which HCMV is carried in vivo. Recently, Mocarski et al. reported the identification of a segment of genome with proximity to the IE region of HCMV that appears to be important for carriage of the viral genome in an experimentally infected GM-Ps (Mocarski et al. 2006). Since the carriage of viral genomes in these cells occurs without lytic gene expression (Hahn et al. 1998), and presumably without lytic DNA replication, this region of the viral genome may act as a latent origin of replication or encode a viral gene product essential for maintenance of the viral genome. Characterisation of this region awaits further study.

If latent replication of HCMV genomes does occur, how is segregation of viral genomes to the daughter cells accomplished? This is achieved in EBV and KSHV by using chromatin tethering proteins such as EBNA-1 (Leight and Sugden 2000) and LANA (Cotter and Robertson 1999), respectively. In the absence of an identified homologue in HCMV, how the viral genomes are replicated and segregated during latent carriage is not known.

One alternative, which needs to be considered, is that there is actually no latent replication of HCMV DNA. Instead, CD34<sup>+</sup> haematopoietic cells exiting the bone marrow are continually infected from a low level subclinical persistent infection in, for instance, surrounding stromal cells. Once these CD34<sup>+</sup> cells enter the blood-stream, they are relatively short-lived and quite quickly differentiate, which results in virus reactivation and virus production from these terminally differentiated myeloid cells. Whether or not any of these models are true will require further study, in perhaps more tractable model systems than we have at present.

The maintenance of HCMV latency is likely to require the continued repression of viral gene expression - particularly IE gene expression - to prevent the virus from re-entering the lytic cycle. In experimentally latent cells, the MIEP is associated with repressed chromatin upon infection (Murphy et al. 2002) and throughout long-term culture as CD34<sup>+</sup> cells (Reeves et al. 2005a). Similarly, in naturally latent cells from healthy individuals the MIEP is associated with repressed chromatin (Reeves et al. 2005b). This suggests that virus is kept latent, at least in part, by the recruitment of repressive chromatin factors to the MIEP. However, chromatin is a highly dynamic structure and thus it may be a possibility that yet undefined viral functions have a role in the maintenance of the MIEP in a repressed form, which may also impact on the carriage of the viral genome in a latent state.

#### **Reactivation of HCMV from Latency**

Latency is operationally defined as the persistence of the viral genome in the absence of viral lytic gene expression, but importantly, with the capacity of the virus to re-enter its lytic life cycle. The ease and rapidity with which HCMV reactivates in vivo, causing severe disease, is in stark contrast to the ability to reactivate in vitro.

Observations from both experimentally and naturally latent cells suggest that the cellular environment is a key factor in HCMV reactivation: changes in the cellular environment result in the induction of viral lytic gene expression and, hence, virus reactivation (Fig. 3). A number of functions associated with virus infection are known to augment viral IE gene expression. Virus binding on the surface of the cell results in significant changes to the cellular environment by targeting a number of



maintained by a repressive chromatin structure around the MIEP (**B**). Exposure of CD34<sup>+</sup> cells to growth factors and/or inflammatory cytokines promotes myeloid differentiation to mature macrophages and dendritic cells (**C**). Differentiation is concomitant with changes in the levels of specific cellular transcrip-Fig. 3 Reactivation may be promoted by pro-inflammatory signals and is differentiation dependent. CD34<sup>+</sup> cells carry the HCMV genome in a latent form (A), tion factors and co-factors. These changes promote the reactivation of HCMV immediate-early gene expression, which is consistent with changes in the chromatin structure of the MIEP from a repressed to an active conformation (D). Whether this change is totally regulated by cellular factors or requires a viral product remains unknown

signaling pathways (Fortunato et al. 2000; Simmen et al. 2001; Johnson and Hegde 2002; see the chapters by A. Yurochko and M.K. Isaacson et al., this volume). Viral tegument proteins are also delivered to the cell which can target cellular functions (Everett 2006; see the chapter by G. Maul, this volume). Finally, some of these viral tegument proteins delivered by the virion particle are known to transactivate gene expression to promote high levels of viral IE transcription (Liu and Stinski 1992; Bresnahan and Shenk 2000; Schierling et al. 2004; see the chapter by R; Kaletja, this volume). However, none of these are likely to be involved in reactivation from latency as no virions will be present in the apparent absence of these events during latency; the switch from a latent to a reactivating phenotype requires a latency breaking step. Whether this is a virally encoded latent function or is a consequence of changes to the cellular environment is presently under intense investigation in a number of laboratories.

In our laboratory, we have shown that reactivation of viral gene expression and productive infection in natural (Reeves et al. 2005b) or experimental latency (Murphy et al. 2002; Reeves et al. 2005a) is associated with differentiation of CD34<sup>+</sup> cells to a DC phenotype. Histone acetylation at the MIEP facilitates an open chromatin conformation which is permissive for MIEP transcription (Reeves et al. 2005b). Consequently, the implication is that normal changes in cellular transcriptional regulators which occur upon terminal differentiation of myeloid cells could be enough to trigger reactivation of virus IE gene expression.

The likelihood that reactivation from latency occurs in the absence of virally encoded transactivators of IE gene expression implies that the viral genome senses reactivation signals from cellular mediators. The first report of reactivation in vitro from myeloid cells involved the stimulation of monocytes with cytokines derived from allogeneically stimulated T cells (Soderberg-Naucler et al. 1997), including TNF-alpha, interferon-gamma, interleukins and GM-CSF (Soderberg-Naucler et al. 2001). Pro-inflammatory factors or induction of myeloid cell differentiation have been responsible for promoting reactivation of viral major IE gene expression. This scenario may have strong clinical relevance, considering the known association of virus reactivation and CMV disease with transplantation (Sissons et al. 2002). Attempts to further characterise the role of the cytokines have, so far, proved inconclusive and await further study.

Besides the basic regulation of viral IE expression, it is also clear that the interplay between the host immune system and reactivating virus has a profound role in HCMV reactivation in vivo (Sissons et al. 2002; Peggs and Mackinnon 2004). Possibly, HCMV reactivation is a sporadic event, occurring infrequently when certain inflammatory conditions are encountered locally in the host. Alternatively, it could be a more common event, occurring whenever latently infected myeloid cells naturally differentiate. In both cases, any reactivation and virus dissemination, which could result in severe disease, is efficiently controlled by a robust immune response. This may be the reason for the unprecedented number of memory T cells that recognise lytic HCMV antigens from healthy carriers in vivo (Riddell et al. 1991; McLaughlin-Taylor et al. 1994; Wills et al. 1996; Sylwester et al. 2005). Both scenarios are possible and it is likely that that the exact mechanism could lay somewhere between these two extremes; either could account for the success of this virus as an opportunistic pathogen.

In contrast, during transplantation and likely accompanying immune suppression, the cytokine storm induced by transplantation could drive virus reactivation which is uncontrollable in the absence of a good cytotoxic T cell (CTL) response. However, studies to address these types of questions are extremely difficult, requiring analyses with naturally, latently infected cells and homologous or nonhomologous CTLs. Given the frequency of HCMV DNA-positive cells, this would be a challenging exercise. It is becoming increasingly clear that conducting these and other analyses pertinent to HCMV latency will require a system for enriching for HCMV-positive cells in cell populations from naturally infected individuals.

#### **Other Sites of HCMV Latency**

Whilst most analyses of HCMV latency have focused on the myeloid lineage, it must be acknowledged that there may be other cellular sites of HCMV latency in vivo. Upon virus reactivation, a diverse number of tissues become infected very rapidly. Whilst this could be attributed to mononuclear cell-mediated dissemination of the virus, it could also equally be attributed to other sites of reactivation (Fig. 1c).

CD34<sup>+</sup> stem cells are also believed to be the precursors of some endothelial cells (Quirici et al. 2001), and latent carriage and/or reactivation in these cells has been suggested to be involved in atherosclerotic disease (Epstein et al. 1996; see the chapter by D.N. Streblow et al., this volume). Although the data linking atherosclerosis and HCMV is circumstantial and contentious (Danesh et al. 1997), HCMV reactivation in endothelial cells (ECs) could result from changes in cellular gene expression (Maussang et al. 2006; Reinhardt et al. 2006). Countering this interpretation is the observation that latent HCMV genomes have not been detected in ECs isolated from saphenous vein tissue of seropositive donors (Reeves et al. 2004). Although all ECs are likely to arise from the same progenitor, such an analysis does not preclude the possibility that aortic ECs are sites of latent carriage of HCMV (Jarvis and Nelson 2007). Alternatively, the possibility that a selective segregation of viral genomes also occurs between venous and aortic ECs, as appears to be the case in the myeloid linage, cannot be ruled out (Fig. 1c).

Another possibility is that ECs are sites of low-level persistent HCMV infection, in vivo, rather than sites of true viral latency. Some studies have shown that infected ECs are sites of virus production which show little sign of cell lysis (Fish et al. 1995, 1998). However, other studies have suggested that the infection of ECs is fully cytopathic, resulting in complete cell lysis (Kahl et al. 2000). Whether these differences result from different types of ECs used in the studies or virus strain variation is unclear. What is clear, though, is that the difficulty in obtaining aortic tissue from healthy individuals means it is almost impossible to analyse directly whether these cells are latently or persistently infected.

### Conclusion

Fully understanding the establishment and maintenance of HCMV latent infection as well as reactivation from latency remains a weighty problem. As molecular techniques continue to progress, it is likely that global analyses of the effects of HCMV infection on the cellular transcriptome and proteome will become even more possible. As our understanding of the functional heterogeneity of populations of CD34+ haematopoietic precursors increases, it may become possible to further clarify the mechanisms which promote viral latency in only specific cell types. Why the maintenance of HCMV genomes occurs only in particular subsets of cells derived from a common ancestor is unknown. As a consequence, what conditions in these cells facilitate virus reactivation is also unknown.

Acknowledgements We thank the many members of the laboratory, past and present, whose work has contributed to the studies presented here. We also apologise to colleagues in the field whose work has not been cited due to space limitations. Work from our laboratory which has contributed to these studies was supported by the United Kingdom Medical Research Council and the Wellcome Trust.

#### References

- Adams A (1987) Replication of latent Epstein-Barr virus genomes in Raji cells. J Virol 61:1743-1746
- Adler SP (1983) Transfusion-associated cytomegalovirus infections. Rev Infect Dis 5:977-993
- Bain M, Mendelson M, Sinclair J (2003) Ets-2 repressor factor (ERF) mediates repression of the human cytomegalovirus major immediate-early promoter in undifferentiated non-permissive cells. J Gen Virol 84:41-49
- Bego MG, St Jeor S (2006) Human cytomegalovirus infection of cells of hematopoietic origin: HCMV-induced immunosuppression, immune evasion, and latency. Exp Hematol 34:555-570
- Bego M, Maciejewski J, Khaiboullina S, Pari G, St Jeor S (2005) Characterization of an antisense transcript spanning the UL81-82 locus of human cytomegalovirus. J Virol 79:11022-11034
- Beisser PS, Laurent L, Virelizier JL, Michelson S (2001) Human cytomegalovirus chemokine receptor gene US28 is transcribed in latently infected THP-1 monocytes. J Virol 75:5949-5957
- Bevan IS, Daw RA, Day PJ, Ala FA, Walker MR (1991) Polymerase chain reaction for detection of human cytomegalovirus infection in a blood donor population. Br J Haematol 78:94-99
- Bolovan-Fritts CA, Mocarski ES, Wiedeman JA (1999) Peripheral blood CD14(+) cells from healthy subjects carry a circular conformation of latent cytomegalovirus genome. Blood 93:394-398
- Bresnahan WA, Shenk TE (2000) UL82 virion protein activates expression of immediate early viral genes in human cytomegalovirus-infected cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97:14506-14511
- Cheung AK, Abendroth A, Cunningham AL, Slobedman B (2006) Viral gene expression during the establishment of human cytomegalovirus latent infection in myeloid progenitor cells. Blood 108:3691-3699
- Cotter MA 2nd, Robertson ES (1999) The latency-associated nuclear antigen tethers the Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus genome to host chromosomes in body cavity-based lymphoma cells. Virology 264:254-264

- Danesh J, Collins R, Peto R (1997) Chronic infections and coronary heart disease: is there a link? Lancet 350:430-436
- Epstein SE, Speir E, Zhou YF, Guetta E, Leon M, Finkel T (1996) The role of infection in restenosis and atherosclerosis: focus on cytomegalovirus. Lancet 348 [Suppl 1]:s13-s17
- Everett RD (2006) Interactions between DNA viruses, ND10 and the DNA damage response. Cell Microbiol 8:365-374
- Fish KN, Stenglein SG, Ibanez C, Nelson JA (1995) Cytomegalovirus persistence in macrophages and endothelial cells. Scand J Infect Dis Suppl 99:34-40
- Fish KN, Soderberg-Naucler C, Mills LK, Stenglein S, Nelson JA (1998) Human cytomegalovirus persistently infects aortic endothelial cells. J Virol 72:5661-5668
- Fortunato EA, McElroy AK, Sanchez I, Spector DH (2000) Exploitation of cellular signaling and regulatory pathways by human cytomegalovirus. Trends Microbiol 8:111-119
- Gilbert GL, Hayes K, Hudson IL, James J (1989) Prevention of transfusion-acquired cytomegalovirus infection in infants by blood filtration to remove leucocytes. Neonatal Cytomegalovirus Infection Study Group. Lancet 1:1228-1231
- Goodrum FD, Jordan CT, High K, Shenk T (2002) Human cytomegalovirus gene expression during infection of primary hematopoietic progenitor cells: a model for latency. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99:16255-16260
- Goodrum F, Jordan CT, Terhune SS, High K, Shenk T (2004) Differential outcomes of human cytomegalovirus infection in primitive hematopoietic cell subpopulations. Blood 104:687-695
- Goodrum F, Reeves M, Sinclair J, High K, Shenk T (2007) Human cytomegalovirus sequences expressed in latently infected individuals promote a latent infection in vitro. Blood 110:937-945
- Griffiths PD, Walter S (2005) Cytomegalovirus. Curr Opin Infect Dis 18:241-245
- Hahn G, Jores R, Mocarski ES (1998) Cytomegalovirus remains latent in a common precursor of dendritic and myeloid cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95:3937-3942
- Ho M (1990) Epidemiology of cytomegalovirus infections. Rev Infect Dis 12 [Suppl 7]: S701-S710
- Ioudinkova E, Arcangeletti MC, Rynditch A, De Conto F, Motta F, Covan S, Pinardi F, Razin SV, Chezzi C (2006) Control of human cytomegalovirus gene expression by differential histone modifications during lytic and latent infection of a monocytic cell line. Gene 384:120-128
- Jarvis MA, Nelson JA (2007) Human cytomegalovirus tropism for endothelial cells: not all endothelial cells are created equal. J Virol 81:2095-2101
- Jenkins C, Abendroth A, Slobedman B (2004) A novel viral transcript with homology to human interleukin-10 is expressed during latent human cytomegalovirus infection. J Virol 78:1440-1447
- Johnson DC, Hegde NR (2002) Inhibition of the MHC class II antigen presentation pathway by human cytomegalovirus. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 269:101-115
- Kahl M, Siegel-Axel D, Stenglein S, Jahn G, Sinzger C (2000) Efficient lytic infection of human arterial endothelial cells by human cytomegalovirus strains. J Virol 74:7628-7635
- Kondo K, Mocarski ES (1995) Cytomegalovirus latency and latency-specific transcription in hematopoietic progenitors. Scand J Infect Dis Suppl 99:63-67
- Kondo K, Kaneshima H, Mocarski ES (1994) Human cytomegalovirus latent infection of granulocyte-macrophage progenitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 91:11879-11883
- Kondo K, Xu J, Mocarski ES (1996) Human cytomegalovirus latent gene expression in granulocyte-macrophage progenitors in culture and in seropositive individuals. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93:11137-11142
- Kotenko SV, Saccani S, Izotova LS, Mirochnitchenko OV, Pestka S (2000) Human cytomegalovirus harbors its own unique IL-10 homolog (cmvIL-10). Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97:1695-1700
- Landini MP, Lazzarotto T, Xu J, Geballe AP, Mocarski ES (2000) Humoral immune response to proteins of human cytomegalovirus latency-associated transcripts. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 6:100-108
- Leight ER, Sugden B (2000) EBNA-1: a protein pivotal to latent infection by Epstein-Barr virus. Rev Med Virol 10:83-100

- Liu B, Stinski MF (1992) Human cytomegalovirus contains a tegument protein that enhances transcription from promoters with upstream ATF and AP-1 cis-acting elements. J Virol 66:4434-4444
- Liu R, Baillie J, Sissons JG, Sinclair JH (1994) The transcription factor YY1 binds to negative regulatory elements in the human cytomegalovirus major immediate early enhancer/promoter and mediates repression in non-permissive cells. Nucleic Acids Res 22:2453-2459
- Lunetta JM, Wiedeman JA (2000) Latency-associated sense transcripts are expressed during in vitro human cytomegalovirus productive infection. Virology 278:467-476
- Maciejewski JP, St Jeor SC (1999) Human cytomegalovirus infection of human hematopoietic progenitor cells. Leuk Lymphoma 33:1-13
- Maussang D, Verzijl D, van Walsum M, Leurs R, Holl J, Pleskoff O, Michel D, van Dongen GA, Smit MJ (2006) Human cytomegalovirus-encoded chemokine receptor US28 promotes tumorigenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:13068-13073
- McLaughlin-Taylor E, Pande H, Forman SJ, Tanamachi B, Li CR, Zaia JA, Greenberg PD, Riddell SR (1994) Identification of the major late human cytomegalovirus matrix protein pp65 as a target antigen for CD8+ virus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J Med Virol 43:103-110
- Meier JL (2001) Reactivation of the human cytomegalovirus major immediate-early regulatory region and viral replication in embryonal NTera2 cells: role of trichostatin A, retinoic acid, and deletion of the 21-base-pair repeats and modulator. J Virol 75:1581-1593
- Meier JL, Stinski MF (1996) Regulation of human cytomegalovirus immediate-early gene expression. Intervirology 39:331-342
- Mendelson M, Monard S, Sissons P, Sinclair J (1996) Detection of endogenous human cytomegalovirus in CD34+ bone marrow progenitors. J Gen Virol 77:3099-3102
- Metcalf D (1989) The molecular control of cell division, differentiation commitment and maturation in haemopoietic cells. Nature 339:27-30
- Minton EJ, Tysoe C, Sinclair JH, Sissons JG (1994) Human cytomegalovirus infection of the monocyte/macrophage lineage in bone marrow. J Virol 68:4017-4021
- Mocarski ES, Hahn G, White KL, Xu J, Slobedman B, Hertel L, Aguirre SA, Noda S (2006) Myeloid cell recruitment and function in pathogenesis and latency. In: Reddehase MJ (ed) Cytomegaloviruses: molecular biology and immunology. Caister, Wymondon, UK, pp 465-481
- Monji T, Petersons J, Saund NK, Vuckovic S, Hart DN, Auditore-Hargreaves K, Risdon G (2002) Competent dendritic cells derived from CD34+ progenitors express CMRF-44 antigen early in the differentiation pathway. Immunol Cell Biol 80:216-225
- Murphy JC, Fischle W, Verdin E, Sinclair JH (2002) Control of cytomegalovirus lytic gene expression by histone acetylation. EMBO J 21:1112-1120
- Nevels M, Paulus C, Shenk T (2004) Human cytomegalovirus immediate-early 1 protein facilitates viral replication by antagonizing histone deacetylation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101:17234-17239
- O'Garra A, Trinchieri G (2004) Are dendritic cells afraid of commitment? Nat Immunol 5:1206-1208
- Olweus J, BitMansour A, Warnke R, Thompson PA, Carballido J, Picker LJ, Lund-Johansen F (1997) Dendritic cell ontogeny: a human dendritic cell lineage of myeloid origin. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 94:12551-12556
- Peggs KS, Mackinnon S (2004) Cytomegalovirus: the role of CMV post-haematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 36:695-701
- Plachter B, Sinzger C, Jahn G (1996) Cell types involved in replication and distribution of human cytomegalovirus. Adv Virus Res 46:195-261
- Quirici N, Soligo D, Caneva L, Servida F, Bossolasco P, Deliliers GL (2001) Differentiation and expansion of endothelial cells from human bone marrow CD133(+) cells. Br J Haematol 115:186-194
- Reeves MB, Coleman H, Chadderton J, Goddard M, Sissons JG, Sinclair JH (2004) Vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells are unlikely to be major sites of latency of human cytomegalovirus in vivo. J Gen Virol 85:3337-3341
- Reeves MB, Lehner PJ, Sissons JG, Sinclair JH (2005a) An in vitro model for the regulation of human cytomegalovirus latency and reactivation in dendritic cells by chromatin remodelling. J Gen Virol 86:2949-2954

- Reeves MB, MacAry PA, Lehner PJ, Sissons JG, Sinclair JH (2005b) Latency, chromatin remodeling, and reactivation of human cytomegalovirus in the dendritic cells of healthy carriers. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102:4140-4145
- Reeves M, Murphy J, Greaves R, Fairley J, Brehm A, Sinclair J (2006) Autorepression of the human cytomegalovirus major immediate-early promoter/enhancer at late times of infection is mediated by the recruitment of chromatin remodeling enzymes by IE86. J Virol 80:9998-10009
- Reinhardt B, Winkler M, Schaarschmidt P, Pretsch R, Zhou S, Vaida B, Schmid-Kotsas A, Michel D, Walther P, Bachem M, Mertens T (2006) Human cytomegalovirus-induced reduction of extracellular matrix proteins in vascular smooth muscle cell cultures: a pathomechanism in vasculopathies? J Gen Virol 87:2849-2858
- Riddell SR, Rabin M, Geballe AP, Britt WJ, Greenberg PD (1991) Class I MHC-restricted cytotoxic T lymphocyte recognition of cells infected with human cytomegalovirus does not require endogenous viral gene expression. J Immunol 146:2795-2804
- Rubin RH (1990) Impact of cytomegalovirus infection on organ transplant recipients. Rev Infect Dis 12 [Suppl 7]:S754-S766
- Schierling K, Stamminger T, Mertens T, Winkler M (2004) Human cytomegalovirus tegument proteins ppUL82 (pp71) and ppUL35 interact and cooperatively activate the major immediate-early enhancer. J Virol 78:9512-9523
- Simmen KA, Singh J, Luukkonen BG, Lopper M, Bittner A, Miller NE, Jackson MR, Compton T, Fruh K (2001) Global modulation of cellular transcription by human cytomegalovirus is initiated by viral glycoprotein B. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98:7140-7145
- Sinclair J, Sissons P (1996) Latent and persistent infections of monocytes and macrophages. Intervirology 39:293-301
- Sinclair J, Sissons P (2006) Latency and reactivation of human cytomegalovirus. J Gen Virol 87:1763-1779
- Sindre H, Tjoonnfjord GE, Rollag H, Ranneberg-Nilsen T, Veiby OP, Beck S, Degre M, Hestdal K (1996) Human cytomegalovirus suppression of and latency in early hematopoietic progenitor cells. Blood 88:4526-4533
- Sinzger C, Grefte A, Plachter B, Gouw AS, The TH, Jahn G (1995) Fibroblasts, epithelial cells, endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells are major targets of human cytomegalovirus infection in lung and gastrointestinal tissues. J Gen Virol 76:741-750
- Sissons JG, Carmichael AJ (2002) Clinical aspects and management of cytomegalovirus infection. J Infect 44:78-83
- Sissons JG, Bain M, Wills MR (2002) Latency and reactivation of human cytomegalovirus. J Infect 44:73-77
- Slobedman B, Mocarski ES (1999) Quantitative analysis of latent human cytomegalovirus. J Virol 73:4806-4812
- Slobedman B, Mocarski ES, Arvin AM, Mellins ED, Abendroth A (2002) Latent cytomegalovirus down-regulates major histocompatibility complex class II expression on myeloid progenitors. Blood 100:2867-2873
- Slobedman B, Stern JL, Cunningham AL, Abendroth A, Abate DA, Mocarski ES (2004) Impact of human cytomegalovirus latent infection on myeloid progenitor cell gene expression. J Virol 78:4054-4062
- Soderberg-Naucler C, Fish KN, Nelson JA (1997) Reactivation of latent human cytomegalovirus by allogeneic stimulation of blood cells from healthy donors. Cell 91:119-126
- Soderberg-Naucler C, Streblow DN, Fish KN, Allan-Yorke J, Smith PP, Nelson JA (2001) Reactivation of latent human cytomegalovirus in CD14(+) monocytes is differentiation dependent. J Virol 75:7543-7554
- Spencer JV, Lockridge KM, Barry PA, Lin G, Tsang M, Penfold ME, Schall TJ (2002) Potent immunosuppressive activities of cytomegalovirus-encoded interleukin-10. J Virol 76:1285-1292
- Stanier P, Kitchen AD, Taylor DL, Tyms AS (1992) Detection of human cytomegalovirus in peripheral mononuclear cells and urine samples using PCR. Mol Cell Probes 6:51-58

- Streblow DN, Nelson JA (2003) Models of HCMV latency and reactivation. Trends Microbiol 11:293-295
- Sylwester AW, Mitchell BL, Edgar JB, Taormina C, Pelte C, Ruchti F, Sleath PR, Grabstein KH, Hosken NA, Kern F, Nelson JA, Picker LJ (2005) Broadly targeted human cytomegalovirusspecific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells dominate the memory compartments of exposed subjects. J Exp Med 202:673-685
- Taylor-Wiedeman J, Sissons JG, Borysiewicz LK, Sinclair JH (1991) Monocytes are a major site of persistence of human cytomegalovirus in peripheral blood mononuclear cells. J Gen Virol 72:2059-2064
- Taylor-Wiedeman J, Hayhurst GP, Sissons JG, Sinclair JH (1993) Polymorphonuclear cells are not sites of persistence of human cytomegalovirus in healthy individuals. J Gen Virol 74:265-268
- Taylor-Wiedeman J, Sissons P, Sinclair J (1994) Induction of endogenous human cytomegalovirus gene expression after differentiation of monocytes from healthy carriers. J Virol 68:1597-1604
- Thomas MJ, Seto E (1999) Unlocking the mechanisms of transcription factor YY1: are chromatin modifying enzymes the key? Gene 236:197-208
- Tolpin MD, Stewart JA, Warren D, Mojica BA, Collins MA, Doveikis SA, Cabradilla C Jr, Schauf V, Raju TN, Nelson K (1985) Transfusion transmission of cytomegalovirus confirmed by restriction endonuclease analysis. J Pediatr 107:953-956
- White KL, Slobedman B, Mocarski ES (2000) Human cytomegalovirus latency-associated protein pORF94 is dispensable for productive and latent infection. J Virol 74:9333-9337
- Wills MR, Carmichael AJ, Mynard K, Jin X, Weekes MP, Plachter B, Sissons JG (1996) The human cytotoxic T-lymphocyte (CTL) response to cytomegalovirus is dominated by structural protein pp65: frequency, specificity, and T-cell receptor usage of pp65-specific CTL. J Virol 70:7569-7579
- Wright E, Bain M, Teague L, Murphy J, Sinclair J (2005) Ets-2 repressor factor recruits histone deacetylase to silence human cytomegalovirus immediate-early gene expression in nonpermissive cells. J Gen Virol 86:535-544
- Yates J, Warren N, Reisman D, Sugden B (1984) A cis-acting element from the Epstein-Barr viral genome that permits stable replication of recombinant plasmids in latently infected cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 81:3806-3810
- Yeager AS, Grumet FC, Hafleigh EB, Arvin AM, Bradley JS, Prober CG (1981) Prevention of transfusion-acquired cytomegalovirus infections in newborn infants. J Pediatr 98:281-287
- Young LS, Dawson CW, Eliopoulos AG (2000) The expression and function of Epstein-Barr virus encoded latent genes. Mol Pathol 53:238-247
- Zaia JA (1990) Epidemiology and pathogenesis of cytomegalovirus disease. Semin Hematol 27:5-10; discussion 28-19
- Zweidler-Mckay PA, Grimes HL, Flubacher MM, Tsichlis PN (1996) Gfi-1 encodes a nuclear zinc finger protein that binds DNA and functions as a transcriptional repressor. Mol Cell Biol 16:4024-4034